
CITY COUNCIL MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA 
 

Notice is hereby given that the City Council of Caribou will hold a Regular City Council Meeting 
on Monday, April 24, 2023, in the Council Chambers located at 25 High Street, 6:00 pm. 
 
THE MEETING WILL BE BROADCAST ON CABLE CHANNELS 8 & 1301 AND THE CITY’S YOUTUBE CHANNEL.  
 
1. Roll Call 
2. Invocation/Inspirational Thought 
3. Pledge of Allegiance 
4. Public Forum (PUBLIC COMMENTS SUBMITTED TO THE CITY CLERK PRIOR TO 4:30PM ON THE MEETING DATE WILL 

BE SHARED WITH THE COUNCIL DURING PUBLIC FORUM. Email dbrissette@cariboumaine.org) 
5. Minutes            Pages 

a. Regular City Council meeting – March 27, 2023      02 - 08 
6. Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a. Employee milestone recognitions       09 
b. Proclamation for Clerk’s week        10 
c. Proclamation for Hospital week for Cary Medical Center     11 
d. Public Works bids         12   
e. Tax Acquired Property bids        13 – 14 
f. Appointment of member to the Planning Board      15 – 17 
g. Appointment of members to the Caribou Development Committee   18 – 19 

i.  Member from the Caribou City Council – Daniel Bagley 
ii.  Member from the Planning Board – David Corriveau 

iii.  Member from the Caribou Economic Growth Council – Lydia Kieffer-Till 
7. Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 
8. Reports by Staff and Committees 

a. March Financials – Finance Director       20 – 37 
b. Manager’s Report         38 – 39 

9. New Business, Ordinances and Resolutions 
a. Request from the Planning Board – Rezoning Map 7 Lot 26 from I-2 to R-3  40 – 42 
b. 2023 Spirit of America nominee process       43 

10. Old Business 
11. Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

a. City Council Committee reports 
i.  Broadband committee        44 – 46 

ii.  Airport committee         47 – 54 
12. Next Regular Meetings: May 8 & 22 
13. Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

a. Discussion of economic development activities at the airport under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6.C 
14. Adjournment 
If you are planning to attend this Public Meeting and due to a disability, need assistance in understanding or 
participating in the meeting, please notify the City Clerk ten or more hours in advance and we will, within reason, 
provide what assistance may be required. 
 
Certificate of Mailing/Posting 
The undersigned duly appointed City official for the municipality of Caribou City hereby certifies that a copy of the 
foregoing Notice and Agenda was posted at City Offices and on-line in accordance with City noticing procedures.      
 

 
BY: ____________________________________ Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

1

mailto:dbrissette@cariboumaine.org


March 27, 2023 

23-07 Pg. 1 

Council Agenda Item #1:  Roll Call 

The Caribou City Council held a City Council meeting, Monday, March 27, 2023, in the Council 

Chambers with the following members present:  Mayor Smith, Deputy Mayor Boma, Councilors 

Bagley, Morrill, Theriault and Willey.  Councilor Goughan was present via Zoom.  

Manager Thompson was present for the meeting.  

Department Managers Carl Grant (Finance Director), Peter Baldwin (Library Director), Scott 

Susi (Fire Chief), Gary Marquis (Superintendent of Parks and Recreation), Kenneth Murchison 

(CEO/Zoning Administrator) Lisa Plourde (Housing Director), and Dave Ouellette (Public 

Works Director) were present at the meeting.  

Melissa Lizotte of the Aroostook Republican covered the meeting, and it was broadcasted via 

Spectrum and YouTube.   

Council Agenda Item #2:  Invocation/Inspirational Thought 

Reverend Ron Rosser offered an invocation.  

Council Agenda Item #3:  Pledge of Allegiance 

Mayor Smith led the Pledge of Allegiance.  

Council Agenda Item #4:  Public Forum 

 

Sarah Love, property owner of 46 Collins Street joined via Zoom.   

“My name is Sarah Love, formerly Sarah Evans of Caribou, Maine.  My mother was Rita Evans, 

who sadly passed away in June of 2019. 

My mother owned 46 Collins St. in Caribou, a house she purchased for me, my husband, and our 

four children as we moved back to Caribou from Arizona to help care for her and my dad who 

had declining health. 

Just before her death I accepted a teaching position in Madawaska and was about to close on a 

house large enough for my family, and my parents to live in.  However, my mom died in June, 

and I had to move to new town and start a new job and figure out what to do with 46 Collins St. 

quickly.  Our neighbors approached my husband saying that they wanted to rent to own the 

property, and that they would pay us rent, pay taxes, and cover the insurance on the home.   

Needless to say, they did not follow through with their commitment.  We have been trying to get 

them out of the house for about a year, and finally sent out eviction papers in November of 

2022.  Given that we moved to Standish in August 2022, we have been unable to be present to 

enforce the eviction.  However, they moved out of the home just recently.   

My husband drove to Caribou this morning with the intention of changing the locks, winterizing 

the home, and having Dobb’s Realty list the property.  However, Dobbs called back a few 

minutes later and informed me that the property is owned by the City of Caribou because it is 3 

years behind on taxes.  I suspected the house was two years behind, and we were ready to pay 

the back taxes - I did not know that three years ago all but $200 had been paid - we would have 

covered this if we had known!  

2



March 27, 2023 

23-07 Pg. 2 

My husband is present at tonight’s meeting with a check for $5300.37 in hand- the entirety of the 

back taxes.  We ask that you please consider this payment and allow us to take back possession 

of the house my mother purchased for us.” 

Council Agenda Item #5:  Minutes 

a.  Regular City Council meeting – February 27, 2023 

Motion made by Council Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the February 27, 2023 

Minutes as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #6:  Bid Openings, Awards, and Appointments 

a.  Recognition of 2023 CHS Principal’s Award: Jadynn Blackstone Eye  

Mayor Smith presented Assistant Principal Goodwin with certificates for himself, and Principal 

Jamie Selfridge.  He also presented a certificate to Jadynn Blackstone Eye for receiving the 2023 

CHS Principal’s Award.  

Council had a brief discussion regarding the property at 46 Collins Street that was discussed 

during Agenda Item #4.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the payment of 

the taxes in full and sell back Map 31 Lot 8, 46 Collins Street to the previous owner.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #7:  Public Hearings and Possible Action Items 

a.  Public Hearing on 2023 Municipal Budget 

Open Public Hearing:  6:15 p.m. 

April Flagg- Lives in Cross Lake, Media and Grant Writer for Recovery Aroostook 

Ms. Flagg came to speak to the City Council and requested $2,500 to help with their funding and 

for them to assist in becoming a recovery-ready community.  The funds would help with the 

recovery programs and both the recovery house for Men and Women.  

Jon Holabird – Caribou Resident & Chair of Recovery Aroostook 

Mr. Holabird explained that the recovery house is much more than it may seem.  He said that 

they help in any way possible through the recovery process.  He explained that he has gone as far 

as bailing people out of jail and bringing them to the recovery house and helped to find services 

for the person assisting in their recovery. He told about times when they had someone that had 

been a complete rockstar in the recovery process who had some past traumas come to light and 

caused them to be in a crisis type situation.  They brought in trauma councilors and helped them 

to work through the process. Mr. Holabird continued to explain some of the things they do for 

community engagement such as the black balloon project.   

Mark Draper - Caribou Resident & Chair of The Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee 

3



March 27, 2023 

23-07 Pg. 3 

Mr. Draper came today to speak in support of funding the request for the CRRC has asked for in 

the budget.  He explained that the money is going to be used to help leverage other funds and to 

create the Riverfront Masterplan which can be used as part of the City’s Comprehensive Plan. He 

explained that they have requested $40,000 in the 2023 budget.   

Mayor Smith explained that on or before May 31st the City Manager will finalize the complete 

City Budget for the current year including all three elements: expense, capital expense, and 

income.  The City Council can reduce the expense or capital expense budget if needed based on 

the current income budget but cannot increase the expense or capital expense budget.   

Closed public hearing:  6:31 p.m. 

Council Agenda Item #8:  Reports by Staff and Committees 

a.  February Financials – Finance Director 

Carl Grant (Finance Director) reviewed the February 2023 Financial report.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Willey to accept the February 2023 

Financial Report as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

b.  Tax Acquired property list to go out to bid – Finance Director  

Carl Grant (Finance Director) reviewed the Tax Acquired property list and explained that there 

are six new properties to potentially place out for bid.   

 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Mayor Smith to place six properties out to bid 

for the minimum suggested sale price:  

Map 26 Lot 66, 15 Nancy Street    Map 34 Lot 138, 25 Liberty Street 

Map 28 Lot 119, 66 York Street    Map 15 Lot 67-B, 903 Access Highway 

Map 31, Lot 153, 17 Fenderson Street  Map 37, Lot 18, 8 Shirley Drive 

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

C.  Manager’s Report  

4



March 27, 2023 

23-07 Pg. 4 

Manager Thompson reviewed the City Manager’s report dated March 27, 2023.  

Council Agenda Item #9:  New Business, ordinances and Resolutions 

a.  Approval for the June 13, 2023 RSU #39 Budget Validation Election 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Theriault to set the start time as 

8:00 a.m. appoint Danielle Brissette as Election Warden and Kalen Hill as Deputy Warden for 

the June 13, 2023 Election.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

b.  Appointments to the Zoning Board of Appeals 

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Morrill to appoint both George Howe 

and Lewis Cousins to the Zoning board of Appeals for a term ending December 31, 2025.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

c. Appointments to the Caribou Congregate Housing Development Corporation 

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Willey to appoint Danielle 

Brissette, City Clerk and Lisa Plourde, Housing Director to the Caribou Housing Development 

Corporation Board of Directors.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

d.  2023 Maine DOT Municipal Partnership Agreement for paving on Route 161B & Route 164 

Dave Ouellette (Director of Public Works) explained that signing the partnership agreement for 

Hershel & Washburn Street does not mean that the City is locked in.  The project is set up so that 

some of the funds would come from MDOT and a portion from the City which can be paid with 

in-kind services.   

Motion made by Deputy Mayor Boma, seconded by Councilor Theriault to authorize City 

Manager Penny Thompson to execute the agreement with the MaineDOT for the Calendar Year 

2023 Municipal Partnership Agreement for a section of Route 161B and 164 in Caribou.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

e.  Proposed contract with Artifex for architectural services for new police station 

Mayor Smith explained that the voters of Caribou voted in favor of moving forward with a plan 

to construct a police station at a cost not to exceed $10,000,000 in June 2023.  The ity was 

successful in having a Congressionally Directed Spending request approved in the amount of 

$2,500,000 from Senator Susan Collins.   

To proceed with accessing the funding and move forward with securing financing for the facility, 

Caribou needs to enter into a contract with a firm to provide architectural and engineering 

services for the project.   

5



March 27, 2023 

23-07 Pg. 5 

Manager Thompson explained that no contracts have ever been signed throughout the process up 

to this point.  At this time once the city enters into a contract with a firm then they can start 

accessing more information regarding the planning of the new department.   

Motion made by Councilor Willey, seconded by Councilor Theriault to authorize City Manager 

Penny Thompson to execute the agreement with Artifex for the Caribou Police Station project in 

Caribou.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

f.  Letter from the Business Investment Group regarding Land Bank activities  

Ken Murchison (CEO/Zoning Administrator), Member of BIG explained that they are requesting 

the properties of 3, 7 and 8 Hillcrest as well as 6 Midland to be conveyed to BIG for Land Bank 

applications.  The goal is to improve an area and get it back into taxation.   

Mayor Smith explained that this is a first read and that no action is required at this time.  

g.  City Council discussion and possible action on the 2023 Municipal Budget 

 i.  Expense Budget 

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Deputy Mayor boma to accept the Expense 

budget without amendments.  

The Council had a brief discussion regarding the budget and regarding the contributions account.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – No, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, J. Morrill – No, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

 ii.  Capital Budget 

Mayor Smith reviewed some of the details of the Capital Budget.  

Motion made by Councilor Theriault, seconded by Deputy Mayor Boma to accept the Capital 

Expense Budget without amendments.   

Council had a brief discussion regarding their concerns with the Capital Budget, regarding the 

Caribou Riverfront Renaissance Committee funding, Fire & Ambulance getting a van to work out 

of instead of an ambulance with a box.  They also expressed concern that they should be able to 

see a history on the budget like the expense budget is able to show.   

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – No, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – No, J. Morrill – No, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

 iii.  Revenue Budget 

Mayor Smith explained that the current projected revenue budget is approximately 10,488.50 

which is subject to change.   

Councilor Bagley asked when per capita fees were last assessed and adjusted.  

6



March 27, 2023 

23-07 Pg. 6 

Scott Susi (Fire Chief) explained that the prices we last adjusted from 12.95 to 100 per person in 

2018.  

Councilor Bagley asked when prisoner boarding & meals were last assessed.  

Manager Thompson replied that she was unsure and that Chief Gahagan would know but he is on 

vacation.  

Councilor Bagley asked if the numbers for the snowmobile reimbursement were real numbers or 

estimates.  

Gary Marquis (Superintendent of Parks & Recreation) explained that it is a real number and that 

it is the amount that the City will be receiving.  

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to accept the Revenue Budget 

as presented.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Council Agenda Item #10:  Old Business 

There were no items scheduled for discussion.  

Council Agenda Item #11:  Reports and Discussion by Mayor and Council Members 

Councilor Morrill said that the Municipal Buildings committee has met and discussed options that 

have become available through senator King’s office to assist in making a building more energy 

efficient.  They are talking about working on the Library as it is the least energy efficient in the 

community.  They have also discussed improvements at the fire station with the housing situation 

and renovation of the Lyon’s Building as part of the process.  

Councilor Willey stated that she was recently invited to be on a retired teacher panel at the Caribou 

Community School by the 8th grade.  The students asked the panels different questions and asked 

what it was like in the olden days.   

Caribou Show Choir is going to the State competition and that will take place Saturday in 

Millinocket.  Wednesday night at 6 p.m. they will be performing at the CPAC and are suggesting 

a $1.00 admission fee which will go to the Ken Matthews scholarship fund.  

Councilor Theriault stated that the Highway Committee has met and discussed paving instead of 

chip sealing and the upcoming projects such as filling potholes and repairing sidewalks.  Versant 

is going to assist in moving poles on the River road as part of the temporary realignment project.  

Dave Ouellette (Public Works Director) explained that he believes that all intersections should 

have lights, both in town and in the country.  He also stated that Versant has changed some poles 

in the airport area, and they have put the identification markers that are required by the FAA.  

Councilor Theriault also stated that another concern is that there has been snowmobile traffic on 

the bridge, and she suggests getting a sign to remind all traffic to keep to the right.  

7



March 27, 2023 

23-07 Pg. 7 

Council Agenda Item #12:  Next Regular Meetings: April 10 & 24 

Council Agenda Item #13:  Executive Session(s) (May be called to discuss matters identified 

under MRSA, Title 1, §405.6) 

Council did not enter executive session.  

Council Agenda Item #14:  Adjournment 

Motion made by Councilor Morrill, seconded by Councilor Theriault to adjourn the meeting at 

7:49 p.m.  

Roll Call Vote:  D. Bagley – Yes, C. Boma – Yes, R.M. Goughan – Yes, J. Morrill – Yes, J. Theriault 

– Yes, L. Willey – Yes, J. Smith – Yes.  (So voted) 

Danielle Brissette, Secretary  

8



 
    
 
       To:     City Council 
   From:     HR Department 
Subject: Employee Milestone Anniversaries 
 
 

              
 
The City of Caribou is recognizing some big milestone anniversaries this year. We are very 
fortunate to have such loyal, dedicated and skilled employees! 
 
Employee Milestone Anniversaries: 
 
Kenneth Murchison (Zoning & Code Enforcement)       5 years 
Carl Grant (Director, Finance/HR/Tax Collection)  10 years 
Corey Saucier (Sergeant, Police Department)    10 years 
David Ouellette (Director, Public Works)   25 years 
Lisa Plourde (Director, Caribou Housing Agency)  25 years 
Denise Lausier (Deputy/Assistant, Tax Collection/Finance) 25 years 
Doug Bell (Patrolman, Police Department)   35 years 
Michael Gahagan (Chief, Police Department)   50 years 

9



Proclamation 
54th ANNUAL PROFESSIONAL MUNICIPAL CLERKS WEEK 

April 30 - May 6, 2023 
 

Whereas, The Office of the Professional Municipal Clerk, a time honored and vital 

part of local government exists throughout the world, and 

Whereas, The Office of the Professional Municipal Clerk is the oldest among public 

servants, and 

Whereas, The Office of the Professional Municipal Clerk provides the professional 

link between the citizens, the local governing bodies and agencies of government at 

other levels, and 

Whereas, Professional Municipal Clerks have pledged to be ever mindful of their 

neutrality and impartiality, rendering equal service to all. 

Whereas, The Professional Municipal Clerk serves as the information center on 

functions of local government and community. 

Whereas, Professional Municipal Clerks continually strive to improve the 

administration of the affairs of the Office of the Professional Municipal Clerk 

through participation in education programs, seminars, workshops and the annual 

meetings of their state, provincial, county and international professional 

organizations. 

Whereas, It is most appropriate that we recognize the accomplishments of the Office 

of the Professional Municipal Clerk. 

Now, Therefore, I, Jody Smith, Mayor of the City of Caribou, do recognize the week 

of April 30 through May 6, 2023, as Professional Municipal Clerks Week, and further 

extend appreciation to our Professional Municipal Clerks lead by Caribou City Clerk, 

Danielle Brissette, and to all Professional Municipal Clerks for the vital services 

they perform and their exemplary dedication to the communities they represent. 

 
Dated this 24th day of April, 2023 
 
______________________________________ ________________________________________ 
Jody R. Smith, Mayor    Attest: Danielle Brissette, City Clerk 

10



National Hospital Week Proclamation  

WHEREAS, National Hospital Week is May 7-13, 2023,  and originated in 1921 as a community 

celebration and is now the nation's largest health care event; and WHEREAS, Cary Medical 

Center provides accessible, compassionate, and expert healthcare services, creating healthier 

communities; and  WHEREAS Cary Medical Center is celebrating its 99th year of service to the 

County; and WHEREAS, Cary Medical Center has been named a Top 100 Rural Hospital; and 

WHEREAS, Cary Medical Center  has been named among the top 100 Best Places to Work in 

Maine for two years in row; and WHEREAS, Cary Medical Center employs more than 500 local 

residents making it the largest employer in the City, and an economic driver for the region;  and 

WHEREAS, The hard working employees and volunteers at Cary Medical Center deserve regard 

and appreciation for providing care for our community, particularly during the COVID 19 

Pandemic;  NOW, THEREFORE, I, Jody Smith, Mayor of the City of Caribou, on behalf of all its 

citizens, do hereby proclaim the week of May 7th – May 13th as National Hospital Week, and 

express my great appreciation for all the individuals, facilities, and technologies that make the 

healthcare possible at Cary Medical Center IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I HAVE HEREUNTO SET MY 

HAND AND CAUSED the Seal of the City of Caribou, Maine, to be affixed this 24th day of April, 

2023.   
Signed:  ________________________________Attest: ______________________________ 
 Jody Smith, Mayor City of Caribou                        Danielle Brissette, Caribou City Clerk 

11



12



13



14



15



16



17



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  April 24, 2023 
RE:  Appointments to the Caribou Development Committee  
 
 

 
On March 13, 2023, the Caribou City Council voted to adopt Ordinance 1, 2023 Series “An Ordinance to Adopt Chapter 
22”. Chapter 22 established the “Caribou Development Committee”, and it took effect after 30 days on April 13. 
 
The next step is to appoint members to the committee. According to the chapter, four members are ex-officio. The two 
members with voting privileges are appointed by their respective boards.  
 
The Planning Board has appointed David Corriveau to the Caribou Development Committee. 
 
The Caribou Economic Growth Council has appointed Lydia Kieffer-Till to the Caribou Development Committee. 
 
The two members without voting privileges are a member of the Caribou City Council and the Caribou City Manager. 
 
Dan Bagley has stepped forward as the Mayor’s appointee to the Caribou Development Committee. 
 
There are five members appointed by the City Council. Two (2) for a 3-year term, two (2) for a 2-year term and one (1) for 
a 1-year term on the Caribou Development Committee. The following six individuals have volunteered for service on the 
board: Troy Haney, Jim Gamage, Gary Marquis, Justin Staples, James Nelson, and Christina Kane-Gibson. 
 
The City Council would need to determine which five of the six individuals to appoint and what the terms for each 
appointed member would be. 
 
Suggested action: 
 
Motion to appoint Dan Bagley as the ex-officio City Council member of the Caribou Development Committee. (Chapter 22 
specifies that the City Council member is appointed by a majority vote of the Caribou City Council); and, motion to affirm 
the appointments of David Corriveau as the ex-officio Planning Board member of the Caribou Development Committee 
and Lydia Kieffer-Till as the ex-officio Caribou Economic Growth Council member of the Caribou Development 
Committee; and,  
 
Motion to appoint two members for three year terms, two members for two year terms and one member for a one year term. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

18



19



20



21



22



23



24



25



26



27



28



29



30



31



32



33



34



35



36



37



City Manager's Report
April 24, 2023

 

Economic Projects

   

River Front - Powerplants No new updates

Broadband Initiative A Caribou City Council Broadband Committee report will be given later in the meeting

CDBG No new updates

Ogren Dump Solar Project No new updates

Events and Marketing City Wide Yard Sale May 20 & 21; Thursdays on Sweden Events are being finalized.

Landbank No new updates

Chapter 13 Rewrite No new updates

Federal American Rescue Plan Act No new updates

Blight Cleanup No new updates

Birdseye Cleanup No new updates

Caribou Development Committee This is an agenda item on tonight's meeting

River Front - Master Plan A Letter of Intent for an NBDC grant was submitted prior to the Friday April 21 deadline

Façade Improvement Program No new updates

Aldrich ATV/Snowmobile Storage No new updates

Caribou Economic Growth Council No new updates

Business Outreach No new updates 38



Other Administrative Projects

Tax Acquired Property Policy Bids on tonight's agenda

Nylander No new updates

Fire Structural Work No new updates

Fire Station Renovations No new updates

Police Station No new updates

River Road No new updates

Investment Policy No new updates

Trailer Park Closure One tenant has found a rental unit by working with the Caribou Housing Authority

Cable Franchise Renewal No new updates

Airport No new updates

Personnel Policy No new updates

New LED Street lights No new updates

Comp Plan Update No new updates

COVID-19 Status No new updates

15 Prospect Street Mr. Barretto was served last week with an order to respond to the dangerous building complaint.

Water Street Fire No new updates

Age-Friendly Efforts No new updates

Personnel Changes
The City of Caribou has multiple open positions. See the website for details. There will be some staff recognitions at the next 
meeting. Interviews for the Chief of Fire & Ambulance will be held next week.

Other Updates Staff has been busy with many projects.

Administrative Approvals
The City Clerk's office has been very busy with administrative approvals for: Rubbish hauler licenses: McNeal's Trucking, Gil's 
Sanitation, Crown of Maine Sanitation and Turner Sanitation; special amusement permits for the American Legion and Bechard's 
Grille.

39



40



17 Birdseye Ave. Caribou, ME 04736 
Phone: (207)498-8231 

Fax: (207)498-8719 
Email: Office@Countyelectric.net 

 

Page 1 of 1 
 

Zoning Change Request 
  

April 17, 2023 

  

City of Caribou Planning Board & Mr. Ken Murchison 

 

To whom it may concern, 

 

I am writing to you to request a zoning change at 201 York Street, Caribou Parcel 007-026 Account 510 
from I-2 (Industrial) to R-3 (Rural Residential).  My son, Marc LaJoie and his wife Julia are planning to 
purchase a section of my land and hope to build a home this spring. 

 

If you have any questions you can reach me at (207) 227-3211. 

 

Sincerely, 

 Johm P. LaJoie 

John LaJoie 

President  

County Electric Inc. 

 

 

 

41



York St Vesta Dr

Marshall Av

Paris Snow Dr

Br
oo

k S
t

Washburn St

Peterson Av

Newton Av

Haines St

Sincock St Fontaine Dr

Jacobs Av

We
llin

gto
n A

v

No
rth

ern
 Av

R-3

R-3

R-2

I-2

I-1

I-2 R-2

R-2

I-2

R-2

R-3

I-2

R-2

R-3

I-1

R-3

R-2

R-2

R-3

R-3

R-2

R-3 I-2

R-3

I-1

R-1

R-2

R-3

R-3

I-2

R-2

I-2

R-2

I-2

R-3

R-1R-3

R-2

R-2

R-2

R-3
R-3 R-3

R-3

I-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-3

R-1

R-2

R-1
R-1

R-2

I-1 R-1R-3

I-2

I-1

R-1

R-3

R-1

R-2

R-1

R-1

I-1

R-1

R-2

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-3

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1I-2 R-1

R-2 R-1

R-1

R-3
R-1

R-1
R-1

R-1

R-2

R-2

I-2

R-2

R-1
R-1

R-1

R-1

I-2

R-1

R-1

R-3

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1 R-1

R-1

R-1

R-3

R-1

R-1

R-1R-1

R-1
R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-3

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1R-1
R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-1
R-1

R-2

R-1

R-1

R-1R-1

R-1

R-1
R-1

R-2

R-2

R-1

R-1

R-1

R-2

R-3

±

0 190 380 570 76095
Feet

Legend
Map7Lot26
TownshipBoundaries
Caribou2019UpdateFinal

Caribou, Maine
201 York Street
Map 7 Lot 26

42



CARIBOU ADMINISTRATION  
25 HIGH STREET  

CARIBOU, ME. 04736  
MEMO  
 
TO:   Caribou City Council Members  
FROM:  Penny Thompson, City Manager  
DATE:  April 24, 2023 
RE:  2023 Maine Spirit of America Foundation award  
 
 

 
The Maine Spirit of America Foundation became incorporated with the State of Maine on October 16, 1990 as a 
501 (c) (3) to establish a town volunteer recognition program. Every year the Spirit of America Foundation Tribute 
is presented in the name of 100+ Maine municipalities.  
 
In years past, the City of Caribou has selected honorees for the Maine Spirit of America Foundation tribute. The 
criteria for the award is set by the municipality but should be a local person, group or project that is chosen for 
commendable community service. The Caribou City Council selects the tribute winner and presents the individual 
or group with a resolution. 
 
This memo is just to remind citizens of the award and if they would like to nominate someone for the owner, 
please reach out to City Manager Penny Thompson. 
 
Suggested action: 
 
This is for information only. No action needed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

43



 

 
 

 

 
 

MEMO 

 

 

 

To: Mayor and City Council Members 

From:   Dan Bagley, Broadband Committee Chairman 

Date: April 10, 2023 

Re: Broadband Committee Report 

 
 

 

The Caribou City Council Broadband Committee met on 10 April 23, 8:35 am – 10:45 am in the 
Caribou City Council chambers.  In attendance were Councilors Dan Bagley, Chairman; Joan 
Theriault, and Louella Willey.  Also in attendance was Penny Thompson, City Manager.  Mr. Gary 
Aiken, Chairman of the Caribou Utilities District (CUD) Board of Trustees (BoT) participated 
remotely by telephone for a portion of the meeting. 
 
The Chairman called the meeting to order at 8:35 am. 
 
The Committee approved by unanimous consent the proposed agenda (attached), which was 
distributed to members for review prior to the meeting. 
 
The Committee is awaiting receipt of Charter/Spectrum’s “best and final” offer related to their 
proposed expansion project for Caribou.  Charter/Spectrum has applied for a ReachME grant, 
which if awarded, could significantly reduce the required cost share from the City.  Notification of 
grant awards is anticipated on or about 21 Apr 23.  The Maine Connectivity Authority (MCA) has 
requested City input regarding Charter/Spectrum’s grant application, and Committee members 
agreed to raise the topic for discussion during the next scheduled City Council meeting on 10 Apr 
23. 
  
During the last Broadband Committee meeting on 7 Mar 23, the Committee discussed ideas for 
potentially restructuring the Caribou Utilities District (CUD)/Pioneer municipal broadband 
proposal to focus on unserved and underserved areas of Caribou and to expand to outlying 
towns in a regional approach, which could include Limestone, Connor, Ft Fairfield, and perhaps 
other communities.  This would make the restructured project more competitive for grant 
funding, as most/all “overbuild” would be eliminated from the proposal. The Committee 
understands that CUD discussed this topic during their last meeting, and the Committee is 
awaiting a final response from Mr. Aiken, Chairman of the CUD BoT. 
 
As a potential third option, the Committee discussed the idea of contracting directly with Pioneer 
Broadband, or some another potential provider, to expand high-speed Internet services to 
unserved/underserved areas of the City and potentially broaden coverage to outlying 
communities.  The rationale for doing this would be to create a more competitive environment, 
and potentially achieve better service for reduced costs to subscribers.  This concept assumes 
that the selected provider would apply for and be awarded a grant for most or all of the 
construction costs, requiring no funding directly from the City. The Committee agreed to hold 

44



 

 
 

this option in reserve until Charter/Spectrum’s final proposal is received and the CUD provides its 
response to the Committee’s inquiries regarding restructuring the CUD/Pioneer proposal. 
 
The Business Investment Group (BIG) has delivered their broadband Engineering Study and is 
putting together a final accounting of the $159K expenditure by the City for this study.  The Study 
report has been emailed to the Committee members, and is posted in the City Council’s 
SharePoint area, under “Broadband Committee.”  The Committee has begun a review of the 
study, and will report out findings and recommendations to the full Council at the conclusion of 
its review. 
 
The Committee then discussed the idea of holding a Town Hall Meeting on broadband 
expansion.  The purpose of such a Town Hall Meeting would be to solicit public input on the two 
broadband expansion options under consideration, and to gauge the level of public support for 
each of the two options before making any final recommendations to the full City Council.  The 
timing of the Town Hall Meeting would be in the April 2023 timeframe, and most likely be 
conducted at the Wellness Center.  Additionally, the Committee discussed whether it would be 
possible to achieve the same objective by holding a public hearing at one of the Council 
meetings, in place of scheduling and holding a Town Hall Meeting.  All Committee members were 
in favor of this approach. 
 
Having no other business to conduct, the Chairman adjourned the meeting at 10:45 am. 
 
The next meeting of the Broadband Committee will be scheduled after receipt of Spectrum’s 
final proposal to the City regarding broadband expansion. 
 
/signed/ 
 
Dan Bagley, Chairman 
Caribou City Council Broadband Committee 
  

45



 

 
 

Caribou City Council Broadband Committee 
Meeting Agenda 

 
10 April 2023, 8:30 am 

Caribou City Council Chambers 

 
I. Call to Order 

II. Approval of Agenda 

III. Status Updates / Discussion 

A. Spectrum proposal/offer 

B. Municipal Fiber Project 

C. BIG/Pioneer Broadband Engineering Study 

IV. Town Hall Meeting 

A. Format, Agenda, and Desired Outcomes 

B. Date/Time 

C. Location/Venue 

D. Can objectives be met by holding a public hearing instead? 

V. Next Steps / Plan of Action 

VI. Adjourn 

 
 

46



 
 

 

 
 
MEMO 

 
 

 
To: Mayor and City Council Members 
From:   Dan Bagley, Airport Committee Chairman 
Date: April 14, 2023 
Re: Airport Committee Report 

 
 

 
The Caribou City Council Airport Committee met on 14 Apr 23, 8:30 am – 10:30 am in Council 
Chambers.  In attendance were Councilors Dan Bagley, Chairman; Joan Theriault, and John 
Morrill.  Also in attendance were Penny Thompson, City Manager and Dave Ouellette, Public 
Works Director. 
 
The Chairman called the meeting to order at 8:30 am. 
 
The Committee approved by unanimous consent the proposed agenda (attached), which was 
distributed to members prior to the meeting. 
 
Manager Thompson summarized recent discussions with the Federal Aviation Administration 
(FAA) regarding the status of the Caribou Municipal Airport and a proposed short-term rental 
concept at the old trailer park location.  The FAA is not in favor of residential applications in the 
airport area.  The proposed concept of short-term rental cabins was viewed as a non-aviation 
purpose, which if approved by the City Council, would jeopardize ongoing FAA funding for airport 
infrastructure and operations funding.  Based on this information, as well as recommendations 
and rationale provided by the Caribou Airport Advisory Committee (CAAC), the Committee 
agreed that a short-term cabin rental project would not be a good fit in the old trailer park 
area and recommends against further consideration of the concept. 
 
Additionally, Manager Thompson received guidance regarding records related to aircraft basing, 
and availability of FAA training for airport managers.  Ms. Thompson compiled a list of “to do” 
items and will begin working through those items immediately.  Additionally, Mr. Ouellette 
agreed to compile a status summary of recent maintenance items that were identified during the 
last FAA inspection.  Most items identified in the inspection have been resolved already. 
 
Discussion then turned to LifeFlight’s interest in possibly assisting the City in purchasing and 
installing Jet A fuel facilities.  In previous discussions with Mr. Thomas Judge, LifeFlight Executive 
Director, Councilor Bagley learned that LifeFlight may be willing to pay for the new tank and 
associated equipment out of grant funding, if the City agrees to manage the fuel operations and 
maintenance activities.  This arrangement would enable the availability of Jet A fuel to LifeFlight 
to support their operations, as well as other potential users of Jet A fuel.  This could raise the 
profile of the Caribou Airport, and result in a significant increase in flight activity at the airport, 
which further secures ongoing funding, and possibly would make Caribou eligible for additional 
funding.  Mr. Ouellette raised some concerns regarding the potential profitability of selling Jet A 

47



 
 

fuel, as compared to the additional cost and effort involved in the City managing those sales.  Mr. 
Bagley will pursue further conversations with Mr. Judge, and representatives of Maine DoT to 
flesh out a proposed plan further. 
 
Manager Thompson provided a status of the planned 2024 Apron Reconstruction project.  The 
project is scheduled to be reviewed by DoT and the FAA during their May 2023 Capital 
Improvement Program (CIP) meeting.  Ms. Thompson will coordinate participation by the City for 
this review.   In addition, Ms. Thompson is gathering proposal information from the City’s airport 
consultant to conduct the engineering effort for this project.  Originally, the City had planned to 
remove and replace the current 100LL fuel tank during the Apron Reconstruction project, since 
the tank’s lifespan ends in 2029.  However, during this meeting, the Committee agreed that it 
would be more cost-effective to leave the current tank in place through the Apron 
Reconstruction project, and then replace it later, at its end-of-life in 2029.  Furthermore, the 
Committee agreed that the City should allocate sufficient capital funding over the next 5 or 6 
years to pay for the required tank replacement in 2029. 
 
Manager Thompson provided the minutes from the last CAAC meeting, along with a letter from 
the CAAC Chairman regarding the proposed short-term cabin rental project in the old trailer park 
area (see attached).  The CAAC recommends strongly against the proposed concept, because it is 
inconsistent with the current Airport Master Plan, and likely will disrupt other planned 
infrastructure initiatives that are described in that plan.  Additionally, there are serious concerns 
about the potential for excessive noise in a compacted residential area, security management, 
and possible incursions into airport operations areas. 
 
Finally, Manager Thompson provided an update on the Caribou Community Gardens initiative at 
the Caribou Municipal Airport (attached).  Planning is underway for ground preparation, soil 
testing and enhancement, and other activities to support a grand opening in June 2023. 
 
Having no other business to conduct, the Chairman adjourned the meeting at 10:30 am. 
 
The next meeting of the Airport Committee will be scheduled at a later time. 
 
/signed/ 
 
Dan Bagley, Chairman 
Caribou City Council Airport Committee 
  

48



 
 

Caribou City Council Airport Committee 
Meeting Agenda 

 
14 April 2023, 8:30 am 

Caribou City Council Chambers 
 

I. Call to Order 
II. Approval of Agenda 
III. Recent Discussions with FAA 
IV. Recent Discussions with LifeFlight (Jet A fuel) 
V. 2024 Apron Reconstruction Project Status 
VI. Caribou Airport Advisory Committee (CAAC) Meeting Outbrief, 28 Mar 23 
VII. Caribou Community Garden Update 
VIII. Next Steps/Plan of Action 
IX. Adjourn 

  

49



  

  Location: Caribou Airport 

 Date: 3.28.23 

 Time: 6pm 
 

Meeting Minutes 
Agenda items 

I. Discussion around Mr. Haney proposal to use airport land for his venture. Committee agreed to 

articulate their thoughts in a letter to city council as it is committees’ belief this venture is not in line 

with the purpose of airport land. (Letter is attached to minutes). This led to further conversations 

around improvements and needs. Discussion around airport master plan.  

II. Discussion around event on May 21st at the airport, having a fly in for city wide yard sale. Andrea will 

reach out to Christina and get further information for PR, Andrea will reach out to vendors to have 

food trucks at event.  

III. Discussion around (JA) Tank for helicopters. A heated hanger for a mechanic to work out of.  

IV. Next Meeting will be on the 25th at 5:30pm at the airport. Next meeting will focus on May event and 

future events, gather more community support and interest in airport.  

 

 

 

50



 
 

Letter from Caribou Airport Advisory Committee (CAAC) to the Caribou City Council, 10 Apr 23 
 
As Chairman of the Caribou Airport Advisory Committee (CAAC) I have been asked by the other 
members of the Committee present at our monthly meeting earlier this week to respond to a 
message provided to the Committee regarding the concept of development of land within the 
boundaries of Caribou Airport. 
 
In this message which was forwarded to the CAAC by our City Manager and Airport Manager, 
there is reference to the current location on the Northeast side of Runway 1 and 19 which is 
currently utilized as a trailer park in the process of being phased out.   
 
Members of the committee present at our meeting reviewed this message.  We discussed the 
concept of these housing facilities being created at the Caribou Airport in that particular location 
and discussed the need for such a housing facility, the relevance to airport operations, the 
potential safety and security issues that could potentially be involved, and the effect of 
increased non-aviation human traffic at the Caribou Airport, as well as the potential negative 
effect on the surrounding neighborhood.   
 
Most importantly, we compared the submitted concept proposal to the 2014 Update of the 
Caribou Airport Master Plan.   
 
The CAAC discussed the issues at length, I submit to the board an overview of the findings of the 
CAAC: 
 
1)  This was an unsolicited proposal.  No request was ever made to the would-be developers to 
build a community at the airport, nor was there any intent by the CAAC to suggest that housing 
would be an appropriate use of property located at the airport. 
 
2)  The proposal makes no reference to the Caribou Airport Master Plan, nor makes any 
indication of knowledge of the existence of the Caribou Airport Master Plan.  This omission  
suggests that the submitting parties either were poorly prepared by not knowing of this carefully 
and painstakingly prepared Master Plan, or that the conflict with the Master Plan was 
intentionally ignored. 
 
3)  The proposal presents as fact that there is demand for housing in the Caribou area, without 
any specific supporting data.  While this fact is not disputed by the committee, lack of such data 
in any such presentation reflects poor preparation and planning. 
 
4)  The proposal presents no data suggesting need for housing located on airport property, 
rather than elsewhere. 
 
5) The proposal points out that the land in question meets the needs of the would-be 

51



 
 

developers, but contains no specific evaluation of the quality and functionality of current 
systems such as water, sewer, and electric service.  
 
6)  The area of proposed development is an area earmarked in the Airport Master Plan as ideal 
for hangar construction and aviation-related businesses.  Review of the Update to the Airport 
Master Plan details the lack of hangar availability not only at Caribou Airport, but throughout 
Aroostook County.  This lack of available hangar space in the region is a potential opportunity for 
Caribou to build or lease space for hangar building which is unique to our airport at this time.  
 
7) The Caribou Airport does not currently have facilities equal to the task of housing, servicing, 
or even parking enough aircraft to fill multiple units with guests at the suggested housing facility 
for vacationers.  Therefore, the facility would need to be primarily occupied by guests arriving by 
other means.  As such, we found the supposition that this proposed housing facility is intended 
to be an aviation-related addition to the airport property to be at best ill-informed, and at worse 
disingenuous.   
 
8)  A dense vacationing facility of small cabins is incongruous with the surrounding 
neighborhood, which includes homes and the Caribou Nursing Home. 
 
9)  Even if not utilized for any business, the area in question acts as a buffer between the airport 
and the surrounding community, which contributes to safety and quality of life for City residents. 
 
10)  The message regarding the proposed development seems to imply that general permission 
to develop the former trailer park should be summarily granted expeditiously, without any 
specific plan, impact study, or consideration of alternative uses of the area in question. It was 
the opinion of all present that this would not serve the City, the users of the airport, the 
surrounding neighborhoods, and could be an antecedent to the eventual loss of the airport as a 
resource to the City.   
 
In consideration of the above concerns expressed in our recent meeting I must dutifully report 
to the City Council that the Caribou Airport Advisory Committee unanimously opposed 
permission for development of the former trailer park as suggested by the would-be developers.  
While the CAAC has no authority to make any ruling regarding airport policy, we strenuously 
advise against any approval for development of the former trailer park into housing units at this 
time. 
 
It should be noted, however, that the CAAC also unanimously was in favor of consideration by 
the Council and by the would-be developers of a similar project at a location off airport property, 
perhaps away from residential areas and the nursing home.  We encourage this and any 
potential developer to consider this as an option. 
 
This is faithfully submitted for your review.  On behalf of the CAAC I am happy to discuss this 

52



 
 

further at your convenience. 
 
Sincerely, 
 
John W. Karod M. D. 
Chairman 
Caribou Airport Advisory Committee. 
 
jwk 
 
John W. Karod M. D. 
jkarod@gmail.com 
cell   207 691 3713 
  

53



 
 

Email update from Gary Marquis on Caribou Community Garden, 13 Apr 23 
 
Good absolutely beautiful afternoon Miss Penny, I am sitting down finally and I would like to give 
you an update on the community garden that myself and Laura Bagley had proposed to council 
back in November.   We have been working together on certain aspects of this project.   Miss 
Bagley has been busy with getting her nonprofit status up and going and she has been busy with 
writing a few grants.  
 
The plan which will happen soon as this weather is certainly helping to melt the snow is the 
minute I can get soil samples I will and will have them analyzed through the Cooperative 
Extension service,  Lori Colton who is in charge of gardening up this way is willing to get the 
samples down to Orono.  What this will tell is how fertile or nonfertile the soil is.  If we need to 
add manure my plan is to work with CPW to haul several loads from Pineland and I will till them 
in.   I have secured a 10 foot wide tiller to go behind one of our tractors, a tiller this size will 
make the job very easy.   I have also reached out to FFA at the highschool to see if they are still 
willing to disc the ground up,  I am in hopes that the ground at the trailer park will be ready to 
disc up before their ground is up at the highschool.   Once the tilling is done then I will figure out 
the water situation with CPW.  
 
Laura and I have also been working on a MOU between her nonprofit organization and the City, I 
will have our City attorney to look at this to make sure that we have everything covered. 
 
We are also working on a ribbon cutting ceremony sometime in June,  this is a floating date at 
the moment. 
 
 This is all I have for now.  Have a good day Gary 

54


